Sex-Based Differences in Multiple Sclerosis (Part I): Biology of Disease Incidence

Shannon E. Dunn, Hyunwoo Lee, Farzan Rusi Pavri and Monan Angela Zhang

Abstract Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic autoimmune demyelinating disease that leads to neuron damage and progressive disability. One major feature of multiple sclerosis (MS) is that it affects women three times more often than men. In this chapter, we overview the evidence that the autoimmune component of MS, which predominates in the early stages of this disease, is more robust in women than in men and undergoes a sharp increase with the onset of puberty. In addition, we discuss the common rodent models of MS that have been used to study the sexbased differences in the development of central nervous system (CNS) autoimmunity. We then address the biological underpinnings of this enhanced MS risk in women by first reviewing the autoimmune mechanisms that are thought to lead to the initiation of this disease and then honing in on how these mechanisms differ between the sexes. Finally, we review what is known about the hormonal and genetic basis of these sex differences in CNS autoimmunity.

Keywords Sex difference • Multiple sclerosis • Incidence • Magnetic resonance imaging • Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis • CNS autoimmunity • T helper cells • Antigen-presenting cells • B cells • Microglia • Blood-brain barrier • Sex hormones • Sex chromosomes • Gonadotrophins • Prolactin

S.E. Dunn (🖂)

S.E. Dunn

Women's College Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

S.E. Dunn · F.R. Pavri · M.A. Zhang Department of Immunology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

H. Lee

Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2015) 26: 29–56 DOI 10.1007/7854_2015_371 Published Online: 19 February 2015

Toronto General Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: sdunn@uhnresearch.ca

Contents

1	Introduction
2	Sex-Based Differences in MS Incidence and Early Disease Activity
	2.1 Female Preponderance of RRMS Manifests Post-puberty
	2.2 Sex-Based Differences in Early Inflammatory Disease Activity in RRMS
3	Modeling Sex-Based Differences in CNS Autoimmunity in Mice
4	Immune Pathogenesis of MS Onset
5	Sex Differences in Immune Functioning and Trafficking That May
	Explain the Female Preponderance of MS
	5.1 Sex Differences in Treg Numbers and Function
	5.2 Sex Differences in T-Cell Numbers and Proliferative Capacity
	5.3 Female Th Cells are Biased Toward Th1, While Male Th Cells are Biased
	Toward Th2 or Th17
	5.4 Sex Differences in BBB Permeability
	5.5 Sex Differences in Microglia Number and Activation State
	5.6 Sex Differences in Humoral Immunity
	5.7 Summary 41
6	Role of Sex Hormones in the More Robust Autoimmunity in Females 42
	6.1 Role of Androgens
	6.2 Role of Ovarian Hormones Estradiol and Progesterone
	6.3 Role of Hypothalamic and Pituitary-Derived Hormones
	6.4 Summary
7	Underlying Role for Sex Chromosomes in the Female Preponderance
	of MS or EAE
8	Conclusions and Future Directions
References	

1 Introduction

It is well recognized that a number of autoimmune diseases including MS are more common in women (Whitacre 2001). For MS, three times more women are affected with this disease than men, making female sex one of the top MS risk factors (Orton et al. 2006). There is also evidence that women are more likely to be diagnosed with MS than men after experiencing an incident demyelinating event (Dobson et al. 2012) and that the "feminine" version of this disease involves more frequent bouts or relapses (Tremlett et al. 2008; Kalincik et al. 2013). This chapter will review this evidence and will introduce the animal models that have been used to study sex differences in CNS autoimmunity. Furthermore, it will address how the autoimmune mechanisms that are thought to lead to MS initiation are more robust in women and what features of the immune system exhibit a sex dichotomy. Finally, the underlying hormonal and genetic basis of these sex differences will be discussed.

2 Sex-Based Differences in MS Incidence and Early Disease Activity

When considering the different MS forms, it is apparent that only "bout-onset" or relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) is more common in women, while "progressive-onset" disease (or primary progressive MS, PPMS) affects women and men equally (Runmarker and Andersen 1993; Broman et al. 1981; Thompson et al. 1997). This section will thus focus on sex differences in RRMS.

2.1 Female Preponderance of RRMS Manifests Post-puberty

The incidence of RRMS is highest in the reproductive years, with a peak age of onset of 29 years in women and 31 years in men (Cossburn et al. 2012). Comparatively, pediatric-onset MS (onset 16 years or less) and late-onset MS (onset >50 years) are less frequent, each accounting for between 2-10 % of cases (Sindern et al. 1992; Ghezzi et al. 1997; Duquette et al. 1987; Pohl et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Tremlett and Devonshire 2006; Polliack et al. 2001; Noseworthy et al. 1983; Kis et al. 2008). The female-to-male ratio (F:M) of MS also varies across the life span, affecting females and males equally prior to 10 years (F:M= 0.8-1.4:1), undergoing a sharp increase post-puberty (F:M of 2-3:1), and a modest decline after 50 years (F:M= 1.4-1.9 to 1) (Sindern et al. 1992; Ghezzi et al. 1997; Duquette et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Tremlett and Devonshire 2006; Noseworthy et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007; Bove et al. 2012; Kis et al. 2008).

The sharp increase in the incidence of MS and the female preponderance of MS with puberty suggests that alterations in gonadotrophin or gonadal hormone levels are enhancing autoimmune mechanisms, particularly in females. Indeed, a number of recent epidemiological studies have implicated a role specifically for female pubertal factors in MS risk (Ramagopalan et al. 2009; Sloka et al. 2006; Ahn et al. 2014). One case-control study reported finding a significant relationship between having an earlier age of pubertal onset and MS risk in women, but not men (Ramagopalan et al. 2009). In addition, the age of menarche was found to positively associate with the age of onset of first symptoms in female RRMS patients, further supporting the notion that puberty in females serves as a point of inflection of increased MS risk (Sloka et al. 2006). Most recently, a prospective study conducted by the Canadian Pediatric Demyelinating Disease group investigated the relationship between age of menarche and MS outcomes in children who have experienced a first demyelinating event (called acute demyelinating syndrome, ADS) (Ahn et al. 2014). It was observed that female ADS children who had a later age of menarche were ~ 40 % less likely to be diagnosed with MS, even after adjusting for a number of factors that are known to be predictive of MS diagnosis in this population (Ahn et al. 2014). Notably, one factor that could not be separated out from age of menarche in these studies is body mass index since these variables are along the same biological pathway, and menarche only occurs in girls once they achieve a critical weight (Johnston et al. 1971). Thus, it is possible that increased adiposity, which is another MS risk factor in children (Munger et al. 2009, 2013; Langer-Gould et al. 2013), is a driver of these puberty-associated effects on MS outcomes. In summary, pubertal onset appears to be a point of inflection of MS risk, particularly in females, which may relate either to increased adiposity or puberty-associated elevations in pituitary or gonadal hormones. How gonadal hormones and gonadotrophins influence the immune system to increase MS risk will be further discussed in Sect. 6.

2.2 Sex-Based Differences in Early Inflammatory Disease Activity in RRMS

Insights into sex-based differences in early disease activity in RRMS can also be gained by comparing certain disease features between women and men including (1) the risk of MS diagnosis after the first demyelinating event, (2) the number of inflammatory or T1-weighted gadolinium (Gd)-enhancing lesions upon magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and (3) the frequency of MS relapses. Coinciding with the notion that individuals more robust CNS autoimmune mechanisms operate in females, it is reported that who have experienced an incident demyelinating event are more likely to go on to experience a second event if they are women rather than if they are men (Dobson et al. 2012). This is particularly true for patients who present with optic neuritis, where the risk of subsequent MS diagnosis is twofold–fourfold higher in women than in men (Swanton et al. 2010; Rizzo and Lessell 1988).

One of the best MRI correlates of relapses in MS is the presence of Gd-enhancing lesions in the brain (Kappos et al. 1999), which indicates disruption of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (Bruck et al. 1997). There are a number of studies that compared the number of Gd-enhancing lesions in male and female MS patients. Most (Weatherby et al. 2000; Pozzilli et al. 2003; Tomassini et al. 2005) but not all (Barkhof et al. 2005) of these studies reported finding a higher number of Gd-enhancing lesions in scans of women versus men. First, Weatherby et al. (2000) in a small cross-sectional study of male and female MS patients (29 RRMS/21 secondary progressive MS, SPMS) reported that female MS patients exhibited a 2.5-fold higher number of Gd-enhancing lesions than men with this disease (Weatherby et al. 2000). Similar findings were reported by Pozilli and colleagues, first in a study of 413 MS patients (266 RRMS/47 SPMS) (Pozzilli et al. 2003) and then in a subsequent study of 60 RRMS patients (Tomassini et al. 2005). However, a more recent, larger-scale study of 1,328 MS patients in the Sylvia Lawry Centre for MS Research (SLCMSR) database that included patients from placebo control arms of randomized clinical trials and natural history studies showed only a tendency (p = 0.20) for a higher number of Gd-enhancing lesions in women (Barkhof et al. 2005).

A major limitation of imaging studies is that they are often cross-sectional in nature and therefore only capture a "snapshot" of disease activity in time. Measuring relapse rates in larger patient groups (>350 patients) longitudinally have provided another indicator of the activity of peripherally driven autoimmune mechanisms in early MS. Indeed, analysis of patient data pooled from placebo arms of clinical trials in the SLCMSR database showed that women with relapsing-onset MS exhibited higher relapse rates than men (Held et al. 2005). This finding was subsequently validated in two larger retrospective studies, one of the 2,477 RRMS patients in the British Columbia MS database, which reported a 14.4 % higher relapse rate in women than men (Tremlett et al. 2008), and a second study of 11,570 RRMS patients in the MSbase study group, which reported an 18.8 % higher relapse rate in women (Kalincik et al. 2013). These latter studies reported that this higher relapse rate in women was still apparent after adjusting for the use of disease modifying agents (Tremlett et al. 2008; Kalincik et al. 2013). Interestingly, the study by the MSbase group also found that the F-to-M ratio of MS was higher in the subset of patients who showed the highest relapse rate in the first four years of disease (Kalincik et al. 2013), further indicating that more frequent relapse activity defines a more "feminine" version of this disease. Together with the MRI studies, these data suggest a trend toward higher inflammatory disease activity in female than in male patients in early RRMS.

3 Modeling Sex-Based Differences in CNS Autoimmunity in Mice

Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is the most common animal model of MS (Gold et al. 2006). This classic T helper (Th) cell-mediated disease is induced in mammals by vaccination with protein components of the myelin sheath emulsified with complete Freunds' adjuvant (CFA) (i.e., *active EAE*) (Stromnes and Goverman 2006a). EAE is most commonly induced in mice, and most strains of mice with the exception of SJL require injection of pertussis toxin to break tolerance. Pertussis toxin is as an additional adjuvant that serves to boost adaptive T-cell responses and to activate the BBB (Wakatsuki et al. 2003; Kerfoot et al. 2004). EAE can also be induced by transferring activated myelin-reactive Th cells from mice that have EAE into healthy mice (i.e., *adoptive transfer EAE*) (Stromnes and Goverman 2006b) and can also occur *spontaneously* in mice that have been engineered to overexpress a T-cell receptor (TCR) that is specific for myelin antigens (Goverman et al. 1993; Bettelli et al. 2003).

EAE in rodents is considered to be useful in modeling the initiation of Th cellmediated mechanisms that precipitate the initial attack of CNS autoimmunity (Gold et al. 2006). In rodents, the focal lesions that occur in the spinal cord and cerebellum in EAE resemble the acute lesions that are found in the brain in RRMS patients, in that they display a perivascular location and show T-cell and macrophage infiltration with focal demyelination and axon loss (Gold et al. 2006). Although there exist distinct differences in the pathology between rodent EAE and MS (i.e., MS involves a greater CNS recruitment of CD8⁺ T cells and a more brain-focused inflammatory response than in EAE) (Babbe et al. 2000; Kap et al. 2010), these differences can be overcome by inducing EAE in the marmoset, a non-human primate that is more genetically similar to humans and is conventionally housed and thus naturally infected with viruses including Epstein-Barr virus (Kap et al. 2010). Nonetheless, because of the high costs and ethical restrictions associated with research in non-human primates, traditional rodent EAE models remain the gold standard for modeling how factors such as sex and environment can impact disease risk.

A number of rodent strains have been reported to exhibit a female bias in disease development. For instance, EAE induced in the Lewis rat with guinea pig spinal cord homogenate and CFA manifests as a monophasic disease in males and a relapsingremitting disease in females (Keith 1978). A female-biased disease is also observed in ASW and NZW mouse strains as well as the highly EAE-susceptible SJL mouse strain, which has since become the preferred model for studying sex differences in CNS autoimmunity (Papenfuss et al. 2004). Depending on the mode of vaccination or EAE induction, young adult female SJL mice can develop either a higher incidence of EAE (Papenfuss et al. 2004; Cua et al. 1995), or like Lewis rats have a higher propensity to relapse (Bebo et al. 1996), than male counterparts. Furthermore, it has been also shown that transfer of female vs. male myelin-reactive SJL T-cell lines also induces more severe EAE in recipients, than transfer of male T-cell lines indicating that Th cells are major drivers of this sex difference (Bebo et al. 1999; Voskuhl et al. 1996). Notably, a sex bias in EAE is not observed in all mouse strains. Some commonly used inbred strains such as C57BL6 and B10.Pl show no sex difference in EAE development or show slightly more severe EAE in males (Papenfuss et al. 2004). It has been speculated that these differences are related to the higher susceptibility of male mice to pertussis toxin (Papenfuss et al. 2004) or to genetic differences between strains (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008; Case et al. 2013). In sum, there are a number of rodent MS models that exhibit a female bias in EAE development and can be useful to study the underlying biology of the more robust CNS autoimmune attacks observed in females.

4 Immune Pathogenesis of MS Onset

Before discussing how sex-based differences in immunity contribute to MS, it is important to first review what is known about the immune pathogenesis of MS initiation. Genome-wide association studies in MS recently identified a number of single nucleotide polymorphisms beyond those in the HLA region that associate with MS (Sawcer et al. 2011). Most of these polymorphisms lie in close proximity to genes involved in common pathways of antigen presentation, T regulatory function, Th-cell activation, and cytokine production (Sawcer et al. 2011), validating the notion that MS is a Th cell-driven autoimmune disease. The current view

is that the incident attack in RRMS and early relapses in the disease are brought about when myelin-activated Th cells get activated in the periphery, expand, and traffic across the BBB into the CNS (Prat and Martin 2002; Petermann and Korn 2011). Once in the CNS, they re-encounter myelin presented by microglia and/or other antigen-presenting cells (APC), which triggers the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines and the subsequent influx of other immune cell types into the CNS (B cells, CD8⁺ T cells, monocytes, neutrophils, etc.) (Prat and Martin 2002; Petermann and Korn 2011). It is the culminated action of these immune cells and their immune products that lead to myelin and axon damage in the acute MS lesion (Prat and Martin 2002; Petermann and Korn 2011).

Both MS patients and healthy people have myelin-specific Th cells in their circulation (Prat and Martin 2002). So why do these cells get activated in some people and not in others? By the established rules of T-cell engagement, a selfreactive Th cell should not be activated unless it sees both antigen in the context of MHC Class II (signal 1) and a co-stimulatory signal such as CD80 or CD86 on the same APC (signal 2) (Steinman et al. 2003). Signal 2 is only upregulated during infection or upon stimulation of pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptors (Steinman et al. 2003). Thus, a commonly held view is that myelinreactive Th cells become activated during MS because they recognize a myelin-like, cross-reactive epitope in the context of a microbial infection (Prat and Martin 2002). Proof of this concept is provided by studies that used "humanized" mice that express both a myelin basic protein (MBP)-specific TCR that is restricted by the MS risk allele HLA DR2b (MBP 85-89) and HLA DRB2b itself (Harkiolaki et al. 2009). It has been shown that EAE can be induced in these mice by infecting them with certain pathogens that express proteins with amino acid sequence homology to MBP 85-89 (Harkiolaki et al. 2009).

In addition to microbial involvement, immune and genetic studies have also raised the possibility that key peripheral tolerance mechanisms may be defective in MS. In particular, it has been found that FoxP3⁺CD4⁺CD25^{hi} T regulatory cells (Treg) taken from MS patients, though not present at a different frequency in peripheral blood, are less effective than Treg from healthy controls at suppressing the proliferation of Th effector cells in co-culture (Viglietta et al. 2004; Venken et al. 2008; Haas et al. 2005; Feger et al. 2007; Cerosaletti et al. 2013). Part of these defects in MS Treg suppression relate to a decreased ability of these cells to respond to interleukin (IL)-2, a factor that is critical for Treg survival, expansion, and FoxP3 expression (Venken et al. 2008; Cerosaletti et al. 2013). In addition, it is reported that Treg from MS patients show a more restricted Vbeta repertoire than Treg from healthy people and that a lower frequency of these MS Treg are recent thymic emigrants (Haas et al. 2007). Given that newly minted Tregs exhibit a greater suppressive capacity than memory Treg (Haas et al. 2007), these findings further explain why the MS Treg population is less functional.

Of the different Th cell types (Th1, Th2, or Th17), current evidence indicates that Th1 cells (that secrete IFN γ) and Th17 cells (that secrete IL-17A) are involved in MS pathogenesis (Petermann and Korn 2011). On the other hand, anti-inflammatory Th2 cells are proposed to balance these pro-inflammatory responses

(Petermann and Korn 2011). Indeed, both transcripts and protein products of IFN γ and IL-17 have been detected within active MS lesions and in the CSF of MS patients (Balashov et al. 1999; Kebir et al. 2009; Tzartos et al. 2008; Lock et al. 2002). Further evidence in support of an involvement of Th1 cells in MS is that IFN γ -producing T cells are detected at a higher frequency in the blood of MS patients just prior to acute attacks (Beck et al. 1988) and treatment with IFN γ causes relapses in MS (Panitch et al. 1987). On the other hand, a recent report that anti-IL-17A therapy (secukinumab) was effective at reducing inflammatory lesions in a small phase I trial in RRMS (Havrdová et al. 2012) also implicates Th17-effector mechanisms in this disease.

Studies in humans and in mice have illuminated the potential mechanisms of how Th1 and Th17 cells mediate inflammation and tissue damage in MS and EAE. IFN γ produced by Th1 cells promotes the class switching of myelin-specific antibodies to complement-fixing IgG2a and IgG3 types (Young and Hardy 1995), increases ICAM-1 expression on vascular endothelium of the BBB (Kebir et al. 2009), and upregulates MHC Class I and Class II and co-stimulatory markers on microglia, thus enhancing their ability to present myelin antigen in the CNS (Shrikant and Benveniste 1996). IFN γ also triggers myeloid cells to produce proinflammatory cytokines (IL-12, TNF α) and reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (Young and Hardy 1995; Shrikant and Benveniste 1996), which can be toxic to oligodendrocytes and neurons. Finally, IFN γ triggers the production of CCL2 by microglia (Tran et al. 2000) and this chemokine is critical for the CNS recruitment of CCR2⁺ inflammatory monocytes (Huang et al. 2001).

Studies in mice have also provided support for a pathogenic role for Th17 cells in disease. Adoptive transfer of IL-23-polarized myelin-reactive Th17 cell lines, like IL-12-polarized Th1 cell lines, can induce EAE; however, these Th17 cell lines evoke a different CNS inflammatory cascade that is dominated instead by neutrophilic inflammation and associated with more extensive tissue damage (Kroenke et al. 2008), in part through a possible ability of Th17 cells to damage axons directly (Siffrin et al. 2010). Fate-mapping studies of Th17 cells in mice during EAE have indicated that these cells have a competitive advantage in accessing the CNS (Hirota et al. 2011), and once there start to co-produce IFNy (Hirota et al. 2011; Duhen et al. 2013). Indeed, T cells co-producing IFNy and IL-17A have been detected in the acute lesions in MS (Kebir et al. 2009) and as a group, these T cells are even more highly pathogenic than "pure" Th1 and Th17 cells due to their higher potential to cross the BBB (Kebir et al. 2009), higher production of pro-inflammatory cytokines GM-CSF, IL-22, and granzyme (Kebir et al. 2009; Duhen et al. 2013), and higher capacity to elicit production of IL-6 and IL-1 by microglia (Murphy et al. 2010).

5 Sex Differences in Immune Functioning and Trafficking That May Explain the Female Preponderance of MS

To understand why females have a higher MS incidence, it is essential to understand how peripheral tolerance mechanisms and Th immune responses are different between males and females and whether there exist sex differences in the ability of T cells to cross the BBB or of CNS-resident APC to reprime myelin-reactive Th cells once they reach the CNS. Additionally, given the recently recognized role for B cells in mediating relapses in MS, it is also important to address the sex differences in B-cell biology.

5.1 Sex Differences in Treg Numbers and Function

In healthy humans, it has been reported that males exhibit a higher number of Treg than females in peripheral blood (Afshan et al. 2012). A similar trend for higher Treg in males has been reported for SJL mice in the spleen (Hussain et al. 2011). However, no one has yet investigated whether Treg numbers differ at the site of autoimmune attack in MS or EAE. A number of groups have compared the Treg suppressive capacities of male and female murine CD4⁺CD25^{high} cells, and although one study did report a higher IL-10 production by CD4⁺CD25^{high} cells in male SJL mice (Hussain et al. 2011), this study and other reports did not observe sex differences in Treg function using in vitro suppressor assays (Hussain et al. 2011; Reddy et al. 2005; Cho et al. 2013). Furthermore, although FoxP3 is encoded on the X chromosome, this gene does not escape X inactivation and is expressed at the same gene dosage in male and female cells (Carrel and Willard 2005). Thus, at present, there is no strong evidence to suggest that sex differences in Treg functioning account for the sex differences in CNS autoimmunity.

5.2 Sex Differences in T-Cell Numbers and Proliferative Capacity

Women exhibit higher numbers of Th (CD4⁺) T cells in peripheral blood as compared to men (Amadori et al. 1995), and these higher numbers likely relate to a higher thymic T-cell output in females (Pido-Lopez et al. 2001). Studies in mice have indicated that this sex difference in thymic output is caused by a suppressive effect of androgens on thymocyte development (Eidinger and Garrett 1972). In addition to basal differences in T cell numbers, female T cells are known to expand more robustly than male cells upon antigenic stimulation (Weinstein et al. 1984). This distinguishing feature of female T cells has been observed both in the context of murine EAE (Kim and Voskuhl 1999; Zhang et al. 2012) and in humans after

administration of a not an herpes simplex virus vaccine (Zhang et al. 2008). Greer et al. (2004) also provided supportive evidence that women exhibit a more robust Th expansion during MS (Greer et al. 2004). They found that peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) collected from female MS patients and healthy controls exhibited a twofold higher proliferation rate as compared to male counterparts toward the immunodominant epitope of proteolipid protein (PLP) (Wilcoxen et al. 2000).

Although the precise cellular mechanism explaining why female T cells proliferate more than male T cells is not known, studies in mice suggest that it relates to sex-based differences in both the intrinsic activation potential of the T-cell and APC functioning (Weinstein et al. 1984; Zhang et al. 2012; Wilcoxen et al. 2000). Indeed, murine female CD4⁺ T cells proliferate more robustly than male CD4⁺ T cells even when cultured in isolation with submaximal amounts of anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 (Zhang et al. 2012). In addition, several groups have reported that female but not male murine APC (either macrophages or dendritic cells) have a stimulatory effect on Th-cell proliferation in co-cultures (Weinstein et al. 1984; Zhang et al. 2012; Wilcoxen et al. 2000). What the APC are doing in this context is not completely clear; however, it is reported that female macrophages produce higher levels of IL-12 and lower levels of IL-10 as compared with male APC (Wilcoxen et al. 2000). IL-12 would support the growth of Th1 cells, which are also found to be more abundant in women (see Sect. 5.3), while IL-10 would inhibit T-cell growth and Th differentiation by downregulating MHC Class II and co-stimulatory expression on APC (Buelens et al. 1995). Altogether, these studies suggest that one reason why females may be more likely to develop MS is because female autoreactive T cells expand more robustly than male counterparts upon encountering antigen and are more likely to trigger the initiation of disease.

5.3 Female Th Cells are Biased Toward Th1, While Male Th Cells are Biased Toward Th2 or Th17

In addition to expanding more robustly, $CD4^+$ T cells from females are more biased toward Th1 cytokine production as compared to male $CD4^+$ T cells. The higher propensity of females to produce the Th1 cytokine IFN γ was first reported in 1984 in a study that examined cytokine responses in mice to Bacille de Calmette et Guerin (i.e., BCG) vaccination (Huygen and Palfliet 1984). This sex difference was later observed in EAE, where it was noted that a higher production of IFN γ by myelinreactive T cells in the periphery was the main feature that correlated with the more severe active or adoptive transfer EAE in the female sex (Cua et al. 1995; Bebo et al. 1998). A female Th1 bias in cytokine production has also been observed in the context of MS in a series of studies by Pelfrey and colleagues (Pelfrey et al. 2002; Moldovan et al. 2008). Using ELISPOT assay, they investigated the production of cytokines by PBMC obtained from MS patients and healthy controls after stimulation with myelin antigens, vaccine-relevant antigens (e.g., tetanus toxoid, diptheria toxoid), or polyclonal stimuli such as phytohaemagglutinin or anti-CD3 (Pelfrey et al. 2002; Moldovan et al. 2008). They found that female MS patients exhibited a higher frequency of cells secreting the Th1 cytokine IFNy and a lower frequency of cells secreting the Th2 cytokine IL-5 in peripheral blood as compared to male MS patients when PBMC were pulsed with certain PLP peptides and vaccination-related antigens (tetanus and diptheria toxoid), (Pelfrey et al. 2002; Moldovan et al. 2008). Sex differences were not observed in the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNFα or the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Moldovan et al. 2008), and IL-17A production was not assessed. Of note, this Th1 bias in cytokine production in females was not observed in two other studies that examined sex differences in T-cell cytokine production in MS that used strong polyclonal stimuli (anti-CD3 and PMA/ Ionomycin) rather than "weaker" antigenic peptides to elicit cytokine production (Nguyen et al. 2003; Eikelenboom et al. 2005). However, one of these studies did note a striking correlation between the frequency of IFN- γ -producing CD3⁺ cells in peripheral blood of MS patients and EDSS in females, but not in males (Nguyen et al. 2003), providing support for the notion that Th1-effector mechanisms may be more predominant in females with MS.

Consistent with the concept that sex differences in IFN γ production are dependent on the strength of the TCR stimulus, our group measured IFN γ production by male and female murine CD4⁺ T cells after stimulation with various concentrations of anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 and found that the sex difference in IFN γ production was only apparent when T cells were stimulated with submaximal doses of these stimuli (Dunn et al. 2007). We further observed in follow-up studies that we could observe a Th1 bias in cytokine production by female vs. male naïve T cells that were taken from the blood of healthy human volunteers upon stimulation with submaximal concentrations of anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 (Zhang et al. 2012). Interestingly, in this simple assay, male naïve CD4⁺ T cells were instead biased toward the production of Th17 (not Th2) cytokines. A similar trend toward a Th1 bias in healthy women and of a Th17 or Th2 bias in healthy men has also been reported by one microarray study that compared gene expression between female and male PBMC after ex vivo activation (Hewagama et al. 2009).

Taken together, these studies provide compelling human and mouse evidence that autoreactive Th cells are biased toward Th1 cytokine production in females and toward Th17 and/or Th2 production in males. However, how these more robust Th1 responses are linked to a higher incidence of MS in women is not yet understood. The observation that female IL-17A-secreting Th cells that traffic to the spinal cords of female SJL mice during EAE are more likely than male Th cells to become "pathogenic" co-producers of IFN γ and IL-17A (Zhang et al. 2012) could offer one potential explanation for the higher encephalitogenicity of autoreactive T cells in MS women.

5.4 Sex Differences in BBB Permeability

A recent study by Cruz-Orengo et al. (2014) provided evidence that the female bias in EAE in SJL mice may also relate to sex differences in the expression of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 (S1PR2) and its role in regulating BBB permeability to lymphocytes (Cruz-Orengo et al. 2014). It was observed that female SJL mice exhibited higher expression of S1PR2 in certain brain regions as compared to males and that treatment of female, but not male mice with a specific S1PR2 antagonist reduced BBB permeability at various CNS sites and attenuated EAE severity (Cruz-Orengo et al. 2014). Furthermore, using an in vitro BBB culture system, it was demonstrated that S1PR2 signaling leads to dysregulated endothelial barrier functioning by activating Rho and CDC42, which signal the relocation of CXCL12 from the abluminal to the luminal side of BBB endothelium where this molecule is chemoattractive for lymphocytes (Cruz-Orengo et al. 2014). Thus, the differential expression of SIPR2 between the sexes may be another reason underlying the female bias in CNS autoimmunity.

5.5 Sex Differences in Microglia Number and Activation State

Once autoreactive T cells migrate into the CNS during EAE, microglia participate in the repriming of these cells and thus are critical to regulating disease incidence (Heppner et al. 2005). Microglia also actively mobilize to the sites of T-cell infiltration, proliferate, and contribute to inflammation by secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide (NO) (Goldmann and Prinz 2013). To date, the investigations of sex differences in microglial function have been very limited, but have suggested that this cell population does not account for sex differences in the development of CNS inflammation. For one, microglia numbers do not differ between the sexes in either the brains of adult mice (Manwani et al. 2013) or in biopsy samples of MS lesions (Kuhlmann et al. 2009). Furthermore, investigations of microglial function in adult rats have not detected any sex differences in the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators (TNFa, IL-6, IL-1, or inducible nitric oxide synthase, iNOS) by microglia, either in the steady state or after LPS stimulation (Sierra et al. 2007; Crain et al. 2013). In addition, Dasgupta et al. (2005) compared the gene expression of iNOS and NO production in cultures of primary male and female murine microglia that were co-cultured with either male or female myelin-reactive T-cell lines (Dasgupta et al. 2005). Though the authors noted that female T cells were more able than male T cells to elicit NO production by microglia, there were no differences observed in the production of this inflammatory mediator by male or female microglia when co-cultured with the same Th cells (Dasgupta et al. 2005). These findings further underscore the importance of the T cells in mediating sex differences in CNS inflammation during EAE.

5.6 Sex Differences in Humoral Immunity

Although MS is considered to be a T cell-mediated disease, B cells and autoantibodies are also thought to contribute to relapses and tissue damage in this disease (Krumbholz et al. 2012). Indeed, the most consistent immunological finding in MS is intrathecal immunoglobulin synthesis (Krumbholz et al. 2012), and the presence of antibodies and complement defines the most common lesion pattern (i.e., type II) found in MS (Lucchinetti et al. 2000). Furthermore, the finding that the B celldepleting agent rituximab, had striking effects in decreasing relapse rate and inflammatory lesions in a recent phase II trial of RRMS (Hauser et al. 2008) has reinvigorated interest in B cells in MS.

Although sex differences in B-cell or antibody function have not been specifically investigated in either MS or EAE, there are clear indications from both human and mouse vaccination studies that females exhibit more robust humoral responses than males (Eidinger and Garrett 1972; Klein et al. 2010). Women display higher circulating levels of immunoglobulin than men in the steady state (Butterworth et al. 1967) and display more robust antibody responses to vaccination against a number of infectious agents as compared to men [reviewed in (Klein et al. 2010)]. Similarly, female mice have been shown to develop stronger and more lasting antibody responses to vaccination as compared to male mice to a variety of antigens (Eidinger and Garrett 1972). This greater humoral response is also thought to underly why autoantibody-driven disorders such as systemic lupus erythematosus predominate in women (Cohen-Solal et al. 2006).

While part of this greater humoral immune response in females is intimately linked to the more robust Th-cell responses in this sex, there is strong evidence that the female sex hormones estradiol and prolactin have direct actions on B cells to inhibit B-cell tolerance and to promote antibody production (Cohen-Solal et al. 2006) (see discussion of hormone action on B cells in Sect. 6). Whether sex differences exist in other B-cell properties such as APC function, cytokine production or B regulatory activity has not yet been investigated.

5.7 Summary

Together, past research suggests that women are more likely to develop MS because their adaptive immune responses are more robust than in males. Female myelinreactive Th cells proliferate more and produce higher levels of Th1 cytokines upon encountering antigen in the context of a microbial infection and are better able to support humoral responses than male Th cells. In addition, recent data support the idea that the BBB in females may also be more permissive to the entry of autoreactive lymphocytes. On the other hand, there is no strong evidence to date that sex differences in Treg and microglia account for sex differences in MS initiation.

6 Role of Sex Hormones in the More Robust Autoimmunity in Females

The finding that there is a marked increase in both the incidence of MS and the female preponderance of this disease with pubertal onset suggests that hormonal changes that occur with puberty have a major influence on the biological mechanisms that are involved in MS initiation. In this section, we will overview what is known about the effects of gonadal (androgens and estrogens) and hypothalamic and pituitary sex hormones (GnRH and prolactin) on CNS autoimmune mechanisms.

6.1 Role of Androgens

It has been recognized for some time that the androgen receptor ligands, testosterone, and its metabolite dihydroxytestosterone (DHT) have suppressive effects on the development of CNS autoimmunity. Studies that manipulated the levels of these androgens in mice have demonstrated that sex differences in these levels account for the majority of the sex differences in Th immunity (Voskuhl and Palaszynski 2001). In EAE, castration leads to an increased severity of disease in males, and this increase correlates with a shift toward a more "feminine" profile of more robust T-cell expansion and Th1 cytokine production both in the periphery and CNS (Bebo et al. 1998; Zhang et al. 2012; Dunn et al. 2007; Voskuhl and Palaszynski 2001). On the other hand, treatment of females with testosterone or DHT inhibits the development of EAE in SJL mice post-vaccination with MBP and CFA (Dalal et al. 1997). Furthermore, growing myelin-reactive T cell lines in the presence of androgens inhibits the ability of these cells to transfer EAE (Bebo et al. 1999). In both active and adoptive transfer EAE, androgen-related protection correlates with a reduced production of IFNy and higher IL-10 production by myelin-reactive CD4⁺ T cells (Dalal et al. 1997; Bebo et al. 1999). Consistent with these results in mice, it was shown in a small trial in RRMS that daily testosterone treatment (100 mg/day, Androgel) suppressed delayed-type hypersensitivity responses to tetanus toxoid (a readout of Th1-mediated immunity), reduced the frequency of CD4⁺ T cells in the blood, and decreased IL-2 production by PBMC (Gold et al. 2008).

The immunosuppressive effects of androgens occur through actions on macrophages and T cells, which both express the androgen receptor (Bebo et al. 1999). Treatment of female T cells with androgens results in a reduced ability to proliferate upon stimulation with anti-CD3 (Araneo et al. 1991; Liva and Voskuhl 2001). In addition, it has been shown that testosterone can reduce the production of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF α and IL-1 β) by human macrophages (D'Agostino et al. 1999). Conversely, castration of male mice results in an enhanced proliferative capacity and IL-2 and IFN γ production by CD4⁺ T cells (Dunn et al. 2007), and a shift toward a more pro-inflammatory macrophage profile (Wilcoxen et al. 2000).

Since most of these studies of androgen effects on immunity were conducted prior to the discovery of the Th17 subset, our group further investigated whether androgens are also driving the Th1/Th17 dichotomy observed between the sexes (Zhang et al. 2012). We found that in vivo treatment of female mouse T cells with DHT reduces the potential of these cells to produce IFNy and increases the production of IL-17 upon ex vivo stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 (Zhang et al. 2012). We found that this "reprogramming" did not occur when these studies were done in mice that were deficient in the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- α (PPAR α), thus implicating PPAR α as an important mediator of androgen effects on Th1 differentiation in T cells (Zhang et al. 2012). Our follow-up studies further indicated that the differential Th1/Th17 cytokine production by female and male CD4⁺ T cells appeared to be controlled by both PPARa and the related nuclear receptor PPARy. The mRNA expressions of both of these genes were found to be androgen sensitive in mice (Dunn et al. 2007) and in humans (Zhang et al. 2012) in that DHT treatment upregulated PPARa and suppressed PPAR γ mRNAs in T cells (Zhang et al. 2012). Furthermore, PPAR α was found to repress the Th1 pathway (Dunn et al. 2007; Jones et al. 2003), while PPARy instead inhibited Th17 (Zhang et al. 2012; Kissick et al. 2014). Thus, one molecular mechanism of how androgens can modulate Th cytokine production appears to be through altering the ratio of these two nuclear receptors in T cells.

Recently, it was also discovered that androgens also can inhibit Th1 responses in mice by interfering with the phosphorylation of JAK2/TYK2 downstream of IL-12 receptor signaling (Kissick et al. 2014). Testosterone had these effects by inducing the expression of the phosphatase PTPN1 in T cells, which functions to dephosphorylate JAK2 and TYK2 (Kissick et al. 2014). It was further shown that the expression of PTPN1 was lowered in T cells that were taken from patients who were undergoing androgen deprivation therapy for the treatment of prostate cancer (Kissick et al. 2014), validating that this gene is androgen-sensitive in humans.

In regard to androgen levels in MS, a number of studies have measured testosterone in the circulation and found the level of this hormone to be lowered in both male and female MS patients (Tomassini et al. 2005; Foster et al. 2003; Bove et al. 2014). One study found that female patients with the lowest levels of testosterone were also the ones that exhibited the highest number of Gd-enhancing lesions, suggesting a relationship between active disease and the level of this hormone (Tomassini et al. 2005). However, it has been shown that encephalitogenic T-cell transfer has the effect of lowering the testosterone level in mice (Foster et al. 2003), suggesting that reductions in this hormone in MS may be both a consequence and cause of the inflammation that develops in this disease.

6.2 Role of Ovarian Hormones Estradiol and Progesterone

Despite the recently recognized role for female pubertal factors in increased MS risk, the prevailing notion based on studies in EAE is that the ovarian hormones estradiol

and progesterone are immunosuppressive and therefore do not contribute to the more robust Th immunity in females. However, the literature in this field indicates that the effect of estradiol in T cell- and B cell-mediated immunity is more enigmatic and that this hormone is both immunostimulatory and immunosuppressive in certain contexts. Thus, some previous research does support the potential involvement of the ovarian hormones in inflammation and early disease activity in MS.

The key evidence that ovarian hormones are immunosuppressive in EAE is that ovariectomy of adult female mice and rats results in increased EAE severity after active immunization (Matejuk et al. 2001; Jansson et al. 1994), while treatment of mice with hormone pellets that gradually release estradiol or progesterone protects against EAE development (Voskuhl and Palaszynski, 2001; Bebo et al. 2001; Garay et al. 2007; Yates et al. 2010). For progesterone, only the levels found during pregnancy or higher have been tested in EAE, and all were shown to attenuate disease (Garay et al. 2007; Yates et al. 2010). This protection was related to inhibition of the expansion and CNS infiltration of pro-inflammatory Th1/Th17 cells and to enhanced IL-10 production in the spleen (Yates et al. 2010). On the other hand, estradiol has been delivered to mice at doses that recapitulate diestrus (i.e., follicular phase in humans), metestrus (i.e., luteal phase in humans), or pregnancy levels, and all of these doses were shown to reduce EAE development in mice (Bebo et al. 2001). These immune-suppressive effects of estrogens on EAE are mediated through estrogen receptor alpha (Lelu et al. 2011) and correlate with (1) a reduced expansion and CNS infiltration of pro-inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cells (Lelu et al. 2011; Ito et al. 2001), (2) an increased frequency of FoxP3⁺ Treg (Polanczyk et al. 2004), and (3) a shift of dendritic cells toward a more "tolerogenic" phenotype (characterized by higher PD-L1 expression and IL-10 production) (Polanczyk et al. 2006; Pettersson et al. 2004; Papenfuss et al. 2011). In a pilot study in RRMS, oral therapy with estriol, a form of estrogen prevalent in pregnancy, was shown to decrease TNFa and increase IL-5 production by circulating T cells and to increase IL-10 production by monocytes in women (Soldan et al. 2003).

Estradiol has also been shown to enhance T-cell adaptive immunity when administered at doses that recapitulate the lowest end of the physiological range $(10^{-11}-10^{-9} \text{ M})$. For example, treatment of splenocytes in vitro with low-dose estradiol enhances IFN γ mRNA expression and IFN γ production induced by ConA or LPS stimulation (Nakaya et al. 2006; Fox et al. 1991), and this appears to occur through direct effects of estradiol on IFN γ promoter activity (Fox et al. 1991). Stimulatory effects of estrogens on dendritic cell maturation have also been noted, in that 10^{-10} M estradiol increases the yields of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells in culture and enhances the ability of these cells upon CD40 stimulation to prime responding T cells (Douin-Echinard et al. 2008). Finally, delivery of low levels of estradiol to female mice that were first ovariectomized was shown to enhance T-cell responses to vaccination relative to levels in ovariectomized placebo control counterparts (Maret et al. 2003). Together, these findings suggest that low levels of estrogens can enhance Th responses.

In contrast to the biphasic effects of estradiol on T-cell immunity, both low and high doses (i.e., pregnancy levels) of estradiol promote humoral immunity. Estradiol stimulates antibody production by PBMC (Kanda and Tamaki 1999) and has been shown to enhance circulating antibody levels in murine models of lupus (Roubinian et al. 1978; Peeva et al. 2000). Estradiol has been shown to stimulate humoral immunity by (1) promoting B-cell survival (through enhancement of BCL-2), (2) enhancing the threshold of B-cell activation, thus protecting B cells from apoptosis, and (3) promoting high-affinity IgG antibodies through deaminase-mediated class switching and somatic hypermutation [reviewed in (Cohen-Solal et al. 2006)]. The enhancing effects of pregnancy-level estrogens on B-cell auto-antibody production are in sharp contrast with the profound suppressive effects on T-cell immunity and are thought to be the reason why autoantibody disorders such as lupus flare with pregnancy (Ruiz-Irastorza et al. 1996), while relapse rates diminish in MS in the third trimester when estrogen levels are high (Confavreux et al. 1998).

6.3 Role of Hypothalamic and Pituitary-Derived Hormones

The levels of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), and luteinizing hormone (LH) do not differ between post-pubertal male and females (Neely et al. 1995) and thus are not likely responsible for the sex differences in Th immunity observed in adult men and women. However, these hormones do warrant mention since they undergo striking increases with pubertal onset (Grumbach 2002), are immunostimulatory in the context of MS (Correale et al. 2012), and thus may explain why MS risk increases post-puberty. With pubertal onset, the amplitude of GnRH pulses from hypothalamic neurons increases and triggers a higher pulsatile secretion of LH and FSH from the anterior pituitary (Grumbach 2002). Recently, the effects of GnRH on MS were highlighted by the findings that GnRH agonist treatment, when administered as part of assisted reproduction technology, had potent effects in increasing the risk of relapse (by sevenfold) and MRI disease activity (by ninefold) in a small group of RRMS patients (Correale et al. 2012). The increased disease activity was associated with an increased expansion and cytokine production by MOG- and MBP-reactive T cells in peripheral blood of these patients. Furthermore, this effect could be recapitulated by treating myelin-reactive T cells ex vivo with GnRH (Correale et al. 2012). Similar stimulatory effects of GnRH and GnRH agonists have been reported by other groups in rodent models and in human studies (Goldberg et al. 2009; Grasso et al. 1998). For instance, the treatment of mice with the GnRH agonist, lupron, has been shown to enhance T-cell reconstitution following lethal irradiation and allogeneic bone marrow transplant (Goldberg et al. 2009). Injection of humans with a bolus of GnRH was shown to enhance IFNy levels in the serum and IFNy production by PBMC stimulated ex vivo with ConA (Grasso et al. 1998). In addition, pituitary hormones, LH and FSH, have been shown to have modest effects in stimulating proliferation and cytokine production by human T cells in response to stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 (Carbone et al. 2010). Thus enhanced GnRH secretion could be one factor that is responsible for the increased incidence of MS observed post-puberty.

Prolactin is another pituitary-derived hormone that is elevated in the circulation during puberty and unlike GnRH is present at higher (twofold) levels in females than males (Roelfsema et al. 2012). The production of prolactin in the steady state is negatively regulated by dopaminergic inputs from the hypothalamus, while it is enhanced by thyroid-stimulating hormone, certain pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1, IL-6), stress, and the suckling reflex associated with breast-feeding (Chikanza 1999; Freeman et al. 2000). Although it has been speculated that the prolactin surge with breast-feeding is responsible for the increase in MS relapse activity observed in MS patients postpartum (Vukusic et al. 2004), this idea has been brought into question by recent findings that exclusive breast-feeding protects against postpartum relapses in MS (Langer-Gould et al. 2009). Nonetheless, there is a significant body of literature indicating that patients with MS and other autoimmune conditions exhibit higher levels of circulating prolactin and that this hormone has enhancing effects on the immune system in these diseases [for review see (Shelly et al. 2012)].

In MS, it is reported that 21–34 % of patients display prolactin levels above the normal range (Zhornitsky et al. 2013), which contrasts with the 0.5-3 % observed in the general population (Shelly et al. 2012). The underlying reasons for the higher levels of prolactin in MS and other autoimmune diseases are not known; however, it has been speculated to be due to effects of inflammation on the hypothalamic pituitary axis (Zhornitsky et al. 2013). Regarding its immunostimulatory effects, prolactin has been shown to enhance both T-cell and humoral immunity. This hormone has been shown to (1) enhance IFNy production by ConA-stimulated PBMC (Chavez-Rueda et al. 2005), (2) increase T-bet expression by primary mouse CD4⁺ T cells (Tomio et al. 2008), and (3) promote the GM-CSF-dependent maturation of dendritic cells from human monocytes (Matera et al. 2001). Additionally, in the Lewis rat EAE model induced by spinal cord homogenate and CFA, prolactin levels were elevated in the serum by 4-day post-immunization and pretreatment of rats with bromocristine, a dopaminergic agonist that tonically inhibits prolactin secretion, profoundly reduced EAE severity (Riskind et al. 1991). More recently, it was shown that deficiency in prolactin or the prolactin receptor in mice also results in a slight delay in T-cell trafficking and EAE onset in the C57BL6 model induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in CFA (Costanza et al. 2013).

In addition to these effects on T cell-mediated autoimmunity, prolactin is reported to have stimulatory effects on B cells (Correale et al. 2014). Prolactin has potent effects in stimulating MOG antibody production by MS patient PBMC in culture (Correale et al. 2014). Furthermore, those MS patients that have higher circulating prolactin levels also display a higher survival of B cells ex vivo, possibly due to prolactin effects in increasing the production of the B-cell survival factor BAFF and

BCL-2 expression (Correale et al. 2014). Furthermore, prolactin decreases the threshold of B-cell activation upon stimulation with anti-IgM and reduces CD40 expression on B cells isolated from MS patients (Correale et al. 2014).

6.4 Summary

The current evidence supports that notion that the higher testosterone levels in males coupled with the enhanced estradiol and prolactin levels observed in females post-puberty are potential drivers of the higher female-to-male sex ratio in MS observed post-puberty. Furthermore, increases in the level of gonadotrophins and/or prolactin with puberty may contribute to the rise in autoimmunity in MS observed in adolescence.

7 Underlying Role for Sex Chromosomes in the Female Preponderance of MS or EAE

Although a strong parent-of-origin effect has been identified in MS, where genetic susceptibility loci appear to be preferentially transmitted from mother to offspring (Ebers et al. 2004), a comprehensive scrutiny of candidate X-linked loci using a large MS familial database failed to find significant linkage between X loci and MS (Herrera et al. 2008). In addition, though skewed X inactivation, a process where cells preferentially express genes from either the maternal or paternal X chromosome, contributes to other autoimmune diseases such as thyroid disease and scleroderma, it does not appear to be a factor in MS (Knudsen et al. 2007). These findings, taken together with the fact that the female preponderance of disease is present post-, but not prepuberty, suggest that X- or Y-encoded genes are not a major driving force in the sex disparity in MS incidence.

Despite the lack of association found in MS studies, a number of investigations in genetic mouse models have provided evidence that X or Y chromosome-encoded genes play a role in EAE susceptibility in SJL mice. First, a study by Rhonda Vos-kuhl's group employed the "four-core genotype model" to parcel out the effect of the sex chromosome complement from gonadal hormones on myelin-specific responses in EAE (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008). In this model, the testes-determining factor that normally resides on the Y chromosome (Sry) was moved to an autosome allowing the creation of gonadal males with both XY and XX (Sry transgenic) chromosome complements (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008). When hormone influences were removed by gonadectomy, the effect of the sex chromosome complement on autoimmune development could be parceled out (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008). It was found through both active and adoptive transfer EAE studies in SJL mice that the XX

chromosome complement had a positive effect on disease development as compared with the XY chromosome complement (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008).

Another genetic model that has called attention to the role of sex chromosome complement on EAE is the use of consomic mice that carry autosomes and one X chromosome from C57BL6/J, but have a Y chromosome derived from another strain (Case et al. 2013). Using this model, it was found consomic mice that carry a Y chromosome from SJL showed decreased EAE severity as compared to native C57BL6/J mice or consomic mice that carry a Y chromosome from alternative mouse strains (Case et al. 2013). The presence of the Y^{SJL} appeared to impact EAE susceptibility by influencing the transcriptome of macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells (Case et al. 2013). While these studies clearly suggest a modulatory effect of sex chromosome complement on EAE development in SJL mouse, their relevance to MS is still unclear.

8 Conclusions and Future Directions

In conclusion, there is strong evidence that females are more susceptible to develop MS than men and that the autoimmune mechanisms that dominate in the early phase of this disease are more robust in females. Certain rodent models including EAE induction in the SJL mouse have been useful in the study of the biological basis of the sex dichotomy in CNS autoimmunity, and much progress has also been made into understanding the underlying immune mechanisms of the enhanced female susceptibility to autoimmunity. It has become clear that a more robust Th1 cell expansion contributes to the enhanced EAE susceptibility in female mice and that this sex difference in Th1 immunity is driven by higher expression of a number of androgen-sensitive genes in male T cells including PPARa and PTPN1. In addition, previous research has shown that female sex hormones may also contribute to the female bias of MS, particularly through enhancement of humoral immune responses. Further studies should be conducted in murine MS models where B cell- and autoantibody-dependent responses are known to contribute to disease pathogenesis (i.e., EAE induced in mice with whole myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein) in order to investigate the hormone-gene interactions that are involved in regulating sex differences in B-cell functioning. Future research should also evaluate sex differences in the activity of other immune cell types, particularly those involved in innate immune responses (macrophage, microglia, astrocytes, granulocytes, natural killer cells, natural killer T cells, or gamma delta T cells) as the role of these cells in mediating sex differences in CNS autoimmunity has not yet been adequately addressed either in MS or in murine MS models.

References

- Afshan G, Afzal N, Qureshi S (2012) CD4+CD25(hi) regulatory T cells in healthy males and females mediate gender difference in the prevalence of autoimmune diseases. Clin Lab 58:567–571
- Ahn JJ, O'Mahoney J, Moshkova M et al (2014) Puberty in females enhances the risk of an outcome of multiple sclerosis in children and the development of central nervous system autoimmunity in mice. Mult Scler. Dec 22. pii: 1352458514551453. (Epub ahead of print)
- Amadori A, Zamarchi R, De Silvestro G et al (1995) Genetic control of the CD4/CD8 T-cell ratio in humans. Nat Med 1:1279–1283
- Araneo BA, Dowell T, Diegel M et al (1991) Dihydrotestosterone exerts a depressive influence on the production of interleukin-4 (IL-4), IL-5, and gamma-interferon, but not IL-2 by activated murine T cells. Blood 78(3):688–699
- Babbe H, Roers A, Waisman A et al (2000) Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. J Exp Med 192(3):393–404
- Balashov KE, Rottman JB, Weiner HL et al (1999) CCR5(+) and CXCR3(+) T cells are increased in multiple sclerosis and their ligands MIP-1alpha and IP-10 are expressed in demyelinating brain lesions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96(12):6873–6878
- Banwell B, Ghezzi A, Bar-Or A et al (2007) Multiple sclerosis in children: clinical diagnosis, therapeutic strategies, and future directions. Lancet Neurol 6(10):887–902
- Barkhof F, Held U, Simon JH et al (2005) Predicting gadolinium enhancement status in MS patients eligible for randomized clinical trials. Neurology 65(9):1447–1454
- Bebo BF Jr, Fyfe-Johnson A, Adlard K et al (2001) Low-dose estrogen therapy ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in two different inbred mouse strains. J Immunol 166(3):2080–2089
- Bebo BF Jr, Schuster JC, Vandenbark AA et al (1999) Androgens alter the cytokine profile and reduce encephalitogenicity of myelin-reactive T cells. J Immunol 162(1):35–40
- Bebo BF Jr, Vandenbark AA, Offner H (1996) Male SJL mice do not relapse after induction of EAE with PLP 139-151. J Neurosci Res 45(6):680–689
- Bebo BF Jr, Zelinka-Vincent E, Adamus G et al (1998) Gonadal hormones influence the immune response to PLP 139-151 and the clinical course of relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 84(2):122–130
- Beck J, Rondot P, Catinot L et al (1988) Increased production of interferon gamma and tumor necrosis factor precedes clinical manifestation in multiple sclerosis: do cytokines trigger off exacerbations? Acta Neurol Scand 78(4):318–323
- Bettelli E, Pagany M, Weiner HL et al (2003) Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T cell receptor transgenic mice develop spontaneous autoimmune optic neuritis. J Exp Med 197 (9):1073–1081
- Bove R, Musallam A, Healy B et al (2014) Low testosterone is associated with disability in men with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. doi:10.1177/1352458514527864
- Bove RM, Healy B, Augustine A et al (2012) Effect of gender on late-onset multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 18(10):1472–1479
- Broman T, Andersen O, Bergmann L (1981) Clinical studies on multiple sclerosis. I. Presentation of an incidence material from Gothenburg. Acta Neurol Scand 63(1):6–33
- Bruck W, Bitsch A, Kolenda H et al (1997) Inflammatory central nervous system demyelination: correlation of magnetic resonance imaging findings with lesion pathology. Ann Neurol 42 (5):783–793
- Buelens C, Willems F, Delvaux A et al (1995) Interleukin-10 differentially regulates B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) expression on human peripheral blood dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol 25 (9):2668–2672
- Butterworth M, McClellan B, Allansmith M (1967) Influence of sex in immunoglobulin levels. Nature 214(5094):1224–1225

- Carbone F, Procaccini C, De Rosa V et al (2010) Divergent immunomodulatory effects of recombinant and urinary-derived FSH, LH, and hCG on human CD4+ T cells. J Reprod Immunol 85(2):172–179
- Carrel L, Willard HF (2005) X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in X-linked gene expression in females. Nature 434(7031):400–404
- Case LK, Wall EH, Dragon JA et al (2013) The Y chromosome as a regulatory element shaping immune cell transcriptomes and susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Genome Res 23 (9):1474–1485
- Cerosaletti K, Schneider A, Schwedhelm K et al (2013) Multiple autoimmune-associated variants confer decreased IL-2R signaling in CD4+ CD25(hi) T cells of type 1 diabetic and multiple sclerosis patients. PLoS One 8(12):e83811
- Chavez-Rueda K, Hernandez J, Zenteno E et al (2005) Identification of prolactin as a novel immunomodulator on the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and cytokine secretions on T and B human lymphocytes. Clin Immunol 116(2):182–191
- Chikanza IC (1999) Prolactin and neuroimmunomodulation: in vitro and in vivo observations. Ann NY Acad Sci 876:119–130
- Cho J, Kim L, Li Z et al (2013) Sex bias in experimental immune-mediated, drug-induced liver injury in BALB/c mice: suggested roles for Tregs, estrogen, and IL-6. PLoS One 8(4):e61186
- Cohen-Solal JF, Jeganathan V, Grimaldi CM et al (2006) Sex hormones and SLE: influencing the fate of autoreactive B cells. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 305:67–88
- Confavreux C, Hutchinson M, Hours MM et al (1998) Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. Pregnancy in multiple sclerosis group. N Engl J Med 339(5):285–291
- Correale J, Farez MF, Ysrraelit MC (2012) Increase in multiple sclerosis activity after assisted reproduction technology. Ann Neurol 72(5):682–694
- Correale J, Farez MF, Ysrraelit MC (2014) Role of prolactin in B cell regulation in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 269(1–2):76–86
- Cossburn M, Ingram G, Hirst C et al (2012) Age at onset as a determinant of presenting phenotype and initial relapse recovery in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 18(1):45–54
- Costanza M, Musio S, Abou-Hamdan M et al (2013) Prolactin is not required for the development of severe chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 191(5):2082–2088
- Crain JM, Nikodemova M, Watters JJ (2013) Microglia express distinct M1 and M2 phenotypic markers in the postnatal and adult central nervous system in male and female mice. J Neurosci Res 91(9):1143–1151
- Cruz-Orengo L, Daniels BP, Dorsey D et al (2014) Enhanced sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 expression underlies female CNS autoimmunity susceptibility. J Clin Invest 124(6):2571–2584
- Cua DJ, Hinton DR, Stohlman SA (1995) Self-antigen-induced Th2 responses in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE)-resistant mice. Th2-mediated suppression of autoimmune disease. J Immunol 155(8):4052–4059
- D'Agostino P, Milano S, Barbera C et al (1999) Sex hormones modulate inflammatory mediators produced by macrophages. Ann N Y Acad Sci 876:426–429
- Dalal M, Kim S, Voskuhl RR (1997) Testosterone therapy ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and induces a T helper 2 bias in the autoantigen-specific T lymphocyte response. J Immunol 159(1):3–6
- Dasgupta S, Jana M, Liu X et al (2005) Myelin basic protein-primed T cells of female but not male mice induce nitric-oxide synthase and proinflammatory cytokines in microglia: implications for gender bias in multiple sclerosis. J Biol Chem 280(38):32609–32617
- Dobson R, Ramagopalan S, Giovannoni G (2012) The effect of gender in clinically isolated syndrome (CIS): a meta-analysis. Mult Scler 18(5):600–604
- Douin-Echinard V, Laffont S, Seillet C et al (2008) Estrogen receptor alpha, but not beta, is required for optimal dendritic cell differentiation and [corrected] CD40-induced cytokine production. J Immunol 180(6):3661–3669
- Duhen R, Glatigny S, Arbelaez CA et al (2013) Cutting edge: the pathogenicity of IFN-gammaproducing Th17 cells is independent of T-bet. J Immunol 190(9):4478–4482

- Dunn SE, Ousman SS, Sobel RA et al. (2007) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha expression in T cells mediates gender differences in development of T cell-mediated autoimmunity. J Exp Med 204(2):321–330
- Duquette P, Murray TJ, Pleines J et al (1987) Multiple sclerosis in childhood: clinical profile in 125 patients. J Pediatr 111(3):359–363
- Ebers GC, Sadovnick AD, Dyment DA et al (2004) Parent-of-origin effect in multiple sclerosis: observations in half-siblings. Lancet 363(9423):1773–1774
- Eidinger D, Garrett TJ (1972) Studies of the regulatory effects of the sex hormones on antibody formation and stem cell differentiation. J Exp Med 136(5):1098–1116
- Eikelenboom MJ, Killestein J, Uitdehaag BM et al (2005) Sex differences in proinflammatory cytokine profiles of progressive patients in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 11(5):520–523
- Feger U, Luther C, Poeschel S et al (2007) Increased frequency of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in the cerebrospinal fluid but not in the blood of multiple sclerosis patients. Clin Exp Immunol 147(3):412–418
- Foster SC, Daniels C, Bourdette DN et al (2003) Dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitarygonadal axis in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 140(1–2):78–87
- Fox HS, Bond BL, Parslow TG (1991) Estrogen regulates the IFN-gamma promoter. J Immunol 146(12):4362–4367
- Freeman ME, Kanyicska B, Lerant A et al (2000) Prolactin: structure, function, and regulation of secretion. Physiol Rev 80(4):1523–1631
- Garay L, Deniselle MC, Lima A et al (2007) Effects of progesterone in the spinal cord of a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 107(3–5):228–237
- Ghezzi A, Deplano V, Faroni J et al (1997) Multiple sclerosis in childhood: clinical features of 149 cases. Mult Scler 3(1):43–46
- Gold R, Linington C, Lassmann H (2006) Understanding pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis via animal models: 70 years of merits and culprits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis research. Brain 129(Pt 8):1953–1971
- Gold SM, Chalifoux S, Giesser BS et al (2008) Immune modulation and increased neurotrophic factor production in multiple sclerosis patients treated with testosterone. J Neuroinflammation 5:32
- Goldberg GL, King CG, Nejat RA et al (2009) Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone enhances T cell recovery following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. J Immunol 182(9): 5846–5854
- Goldmann T, Prinz M (2013) Role of microglia in CNS autoimmunity. Clin Dev Immunol 2013:208093
- Goverman J, Woods A, Larson L et al (1993) Transgenic mice that express a myelin basic proteinspecific T cell receptor develop spontaneous autoimmunity. Cell 72(4):551–560
- Grasso G, Massai L, De Leo V et al (1998) The effect of LHRH and TRH on human interferongamma production in vivo and in vitro. Life Sci 62(22):2005–2014
- Greer JM, Csurhes PA, Pender MP et al (2004) Effect of gender on T-cell proliferative responses to myelin proteolipid protein antigens in patients with multiple sclerosis and controls. J Autoimmun 22(4):345–352
- Grumbach MM (2002) The neuroendocrinology of human puberty revisited. Horm Res 57(Suppl 2):2–14
- Haas J, Fritzsching B, Trubswetter P, Korporal M, Milkova L, Fritz B, Vobis D, Krammer PH, Suri-Payer E, Wildemann B (2007) Prevalence of newly generated naive regulatory T cells (Treg) is critical for Treg suppressive function and determines Treg dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. J Immunol 179(2):1322–1330
- Haas J, Hug A, Viehover A et al (2005) Reduced suppressive effect of CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells on the T cell immune response against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in patients with multiple sclerosis. Eur J Immunol 35(11):3343–3352
- Harkiolaki M, Holmes SL, Svendsen P et al (2009) T cell-mediated autoimmune disease due to low-affinity crossreactivity to common microbial peptides. Immunity 30(3):348–357

- Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL et al (2008) B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 358(7):676–688
- Havrdová E, Belova A, Goloborodko A et al (2012) Positive proof of concept of AIN457, an antibody against interleukin-17A, in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Paper presented at the 28th congress of the European committee for treatment and research in multiple sclerosis, Lyon, France, 10–13 Oct 2012
- Held U, Heigenhauser L, Shang C et al (2005) Predictors of relapse rate in MS clinical trials. Neurology 65(11):1769–1773
- Heppner FL, Greter M, Marino D et al (2005) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis repressed by microglial paralysis. Nat Med 11(2):146–152
- Herrera BM, Ramagopalan SV, Lincoln MR et al (2008) Parent-of-origin effects in MS: observations from avuncular pairs. Neurology 71(11):799-803
- Hewagama A, Patel D, Yarlagadda S et al (2009) Stronger inflammatory/cytotoxic T-cell response in women identified by microarray analysis. Genes Immun 10(5):509–516
- Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M et al (2011) Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol 12(3):255–263
- Huang DR, Wang J, Kivisakk P et al (2001) Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in mice leads to decreased local macrophage recruitment and antigen-specific T helper cell type 1 immune response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 193(6):713–726
- Hussain S, Kirwin SJ, Stohlman SA (2011) Increased T regulatory cells lead to development of Th2 immune response in male SJL mice. Autoimmunity 44(3):219–228
- Huygen K, Palfliet K (1984) Strain variation in interferon gamma production of BCG-sensitized mice challenged with PPD II. Importance of one major autosomal locus and additional sexual influences. Cell Immunol 85(1):75–81
- Ito A, Bebo BF Jr, Matejuk A et al (2001) Estrogen treatment down-regulates TNF-alpha production and reduces the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in cytokine knockout mice. J Immunol 167(1):542–552
- Jansson L, Olsson T, Holmdahl R (1994) Estrogen induces a potent suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and collagen-induced arthritis in mice. J Neuroimmunol 53 (2):203–207
- Johnston FE, Malina RM, Galbraith MA et al (1971) Height, weight and age at menarche and the "critical weight" hypothesis. Science 174(4014):1148–1149
- Jones DC, Ding X, Zhang TY et al (2003) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha negatively regulates T-bet transcription through suppression of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. J Immunol 171(1):196–203
- Kalincik T, Vivek V, Jokubaitis V et al (2013) Sex as a determinant of relapse incidence and progressive course of multiple sclerosis. Brain 136(Pt 12):3609–3617
- Kanda N, Tamaki K (1999) Estrogen enhances immunoglobulin production by human PBMCs. J Allergy Clin Immunol 103(2 Pt 1):282–288
- Kap YS, Laman JD, Hart BA (2010) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the common marmoset, a bridge between rodent EAE and multiple sclerosis for immunotherapy development. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 5(2):220–230
- Kappos L, Moeri D, Radue EW et al (1999) Predictive value of gadolinium-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging for relapse rate and changes in disability or impairment in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. Gadolinium MRI meta-analysis group. Lancet 353(9157):964–969
- Kebir H, Ifergan I, Alvarez JI et al (2009) Preferential recruitment of interferon-gamma-expressing TH17 cells in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 66(3):390–402
- Keith AB (1978) Sex difference in Lewis rats in the incidence of recurrent experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Nature 272(5656):824–825
- Kerfoot SM, Long EM, Hickey MJ et al (2004) TLR4 contributes to disease-inducing mechanisms resulting in central nervous system autoimmune disease. J Immunol 173(11):7070–7077
- Kim S, Voskuhl RR (1999) Decreased IL-12 production underlies the decreased ability of male lymph node cells to induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 162 (9):5561–5568

- Kis B, Rumberg B, Berlit P (2008) Clinical characteristics of patients with late-onset multiple sclerosis. J Neurol 255(5):697–702
- Kissick HT, Sanda MG, Dunn LK et al (2014) Androgens alter T-cell immunity by inhibiting T-helper 1 differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111(27):9887–9892
- Klein SL, Jedlicka A, Pekosz A (2010) The Xs and Y of immune responses to viral vaccines. Lancet Infect Dis 10(5):338–349
- Knudsen GP, Harbo HF, Smestad C et al (2007) X chromosome inactivation in females with multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurol 14(12):1392–1396
- Kroenke MA, Carlson TJ, Andjelkovic AV et al (2008) IL-12- and IL-23-modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. J Exp Med 205(7):1535–1541
- Krumbholz M, Derfuss T, Hohlfeld R et al (2012) B cells and antibodies in multiple sclerosis pathogenesis and therapy. Nat Rev Neurol 8(11):613–623
- Kuhlmann T, Goldschmidt T, Antel J et al (2009) Gender differences in the histopathology of MS? J Neurol Sci 286(1–2):86–91
- Langer-Gould A, Brara SM, Beaber BE et al (2013) Childhood obesity and risk of pediatric multiple sclerosis and clinically isolated syndrome. Neurology 80(6):548–552
- Langer-Gould A, Huang SM, Gupta R et al (2009) Exclusive breastfeeding and the risk of postpartum relapses in women with multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 66(8):958–963
- Lelu K, Laffont S, Delpy L et al (2011) Estrogen receptor alpha signaling in T lymphocytes is required for estradiol-mediated inhibition of Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation and protection against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 187(5):2386–2393
- Liva SM, Voskuhl RR (2001) Testosterone acts directly on CD4+ T lymphocytes to increase IL-10 production. J Immunol 167(4):2060–2067
- Lock C, Hermans G, Pedotti R et al (2002) Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Med 8(5):500–508
- Lucchinetti C, Bruck W, Parisi J et al (2000) Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. Ann Neurol 47(6):707–717
- Manwani B, Liu F, Scranton V et al (2013) Differential effects of aging and sex on stroke induced inflammation across the lifespan. Exp Neurol 249:120–131
- Maret A, Coudert JD, Garidou L et al (2003) Estradiol enhances primary antigen-specific CD4 T cell responses and Th1 development in vivo. Essential role of estrogen receptor alpha expression in hematopoietic cells. Eur J Immunol 33(2):512–521
- Matejuk A, Adlard K, Zamora A et al (2001) 17 beta-estradiol inhibits cytokine, chemokine, and chemokine receptor mRNA expression in the central nervous system of female mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurosci Res 65(6):529–542
- Matera L, Mori M, Galetto A (2001) Effect of prolactin on the antigen presenting function of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Lupus 10(10):728–734
- Moldovan IR, Cotleur AC, Zamor N et al (2008) Multiple sclerosis patients show sexual dimorphism in cytokine responses to myelin antigens. J Neuroimmunol 193(1–2):161–169
- Munger KL, Bentzen J, Laursen B et al (2013) Childhood body mass index and multiple sclerosis risk: a long-term cohort study. Mult Scler 19(10):1323–1329
- Munger KL, Chitnis T, Ascherio A (2009) Body size and risk of MS in two cohorts of US women. Neurology 73(19):1543–1550
- Murphy AC, Lalor SJ, Lynch MA et al (2010) Infiltration of Th1 and Th17 cells and activation of microglia in the CNS during the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Brain Behav Immun 24(4):641–651
- Nakaya M, Tachibana H, Yamada K (2006) Effect of estrogens on the interferon-gamma producing cell population of mouse splenocytes. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 70(1):47–53
- Neely EK, Hintz RL, Wilson DM et al (1995) Normal ranges for immunochemiluminometric gonadotropin assays. J Pediatr 127(1):40–46
- Nguyen LT, Ramanathan M, Weinstock-Guttman B et al (2003) Sex differences in in vitro proinflammatory cytokine production from peripheral blood of multiple sclerosis patients. J Neurol Sci 209(1–2):93–99

- Noseworthy J, Paty D, Wonnacott T et al (1983) Multiple sclerosis after age 50. Neurology 33 (12):1537–1544
- Orton SM, Herrera BM, Yee IM et al (2006) Sex ratio of multiple sclerosis in Canada: a longitudinal study. Lancet Neurol 5(11):932–936
- Panitch HS, Hirsch RL, Haley AS et al (1987) Exacerbations of multiple sclerosis in patients treated with gamma interferon. Lancet 1(8538):893–895
- Papenfuss TL, Powell ND, McClain MA et al (2011) Estriol generates tolerogenic dendritic cells in vivo that protect against autoimmunity. J Immunol 186(6):3346–3355
- Papenfuss TL, Rogers CJ, Gienapp I et al (2004) Sex differences in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in multiple murine strains. J Neuroimmunol 150(1–2):59–69
- Peeva E, Grimaldi C, Spatz L et al (2000) Bromocriptine restores tolerance in estrogen-treated mice. J Clin Invest 106(11):1373–1379
- Pelfrey CM, Cotleur AC, Lee JC et al (2002) Sex differences in cytokine responses to myelin peptides in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 130(1–2):211–223
- Petermann F, Korn T (2011) Cytokines and effector T cell subsets causing autoimmune CNS disease. FEBS Lett 585(23):3747–3757
- Pettersson A, Ciumas C, Chirsky V et al (2004) Dendritic cells exposed to estrogen in vitro exhibit therapeutic effects in ongoing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 156 (1–2):58–65
- Pido-Lopez J, Imami N, Aspinall R (2001) Both age and gender affect thymic output: more recent thymic migrants in females than males as they age. Clin Exp Immunol 125(3):409–413
- Pohl D, Hennemuth I, von Kries R et al (2007) Paediatric multiple sclerosis and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in Germany: results of a nationwide survey. Eur J Pediatr 166 (5):405–412
- Polanczyk MJ, Carson BD, Subramanian S et al (2004) Cutting edge: estrogen drives expansion of the CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell compartment. J Immunol 173(4):2227–2230
- Polanczyk MJ, Hopke C, Vandenbark AA et al (2006) Estrogen-mediated immunomodulation involves reduced activation of effector T cells, potentiation of Treg cells, and enhanced expression of the PD-1 costimulatory pathway. J Neurosci Res 84(2):370–378
- Polliack ML, Barak Y, Achiron A (2001) Late-onset multiple sclerosis. J Am Geriatr Soc 49 (2):168–171
- Pozzilli C, Tomassini V, Marinelli F et al (2003) 'Gender gap' in multiple sclerosis: magnetic resonance imaging evidence. Eur J Neurol 10(1):95–97
- Prat E, Martin R (2002) The immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. J Rehabil Res Dev 39 (2):187–199
- Ramagopalan SV, Valdar W, Criscuoli M et al (2009) Age of puberty and the risk of multiple sclerosis: a population based study. Eur J Neurol 16(3):342–347
- Reddy J, Waldner H, Zhang X et al (2005) Cutting edge: CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells contribute to gender differences in susceptibility to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 175(9):5591–5595
- Riskind PN, Massacesi L, Doolittle TH et al (1991) The role of prolactin in autoimmune demyelination: suppression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by bromocriptine. Ann Neurol 29(5):542–547
- Rizzo JF 3rd, Lessell S (1988) Risk of developing multiple sclerosis after uncomplicated optic neuritis: a long-term prospective study. Neurology 38(2):185–190
- Roelfsema F, Pijl H, Keenan DM et al (2012) Prolactin secretion in healthy adults is determined by gender, age and body mass index. PLoS One 7(2):e31305
- Roubinian JR, Talal N, Greenspan JS et al (1978) Effect of castration and sex hormone treatment on survival, anti-nucleic acid antibodies, and glomerulonephritis in NZB/NZW F1 mice. J Exp Med 147(6):1568–1583
- Ruiz-Irastorza G, Lima F, Alves J et al (1996) Increased rate of lupus flare during pregnancy and the puerperium: a prospective study of 78 pregnancies. Br J Rheumatol 35(2):133–138
- Runmarker B, Andersen O (1993) Prognostic factors in a multiple sclerosis incidence cohort with twenty-five years of follow-up. Brain 116(Pt 1):117–134

- Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M et al (2011) Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. Nature 476(7359):214–219
- Shelly S, Boaz M, Orbach H (2012) Prolactin and autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev 11(6-7): A465-470
- Shrikant P, Benveniste EN (1996) The central nervous system as an immunocompetent organ: role of glial cells in antigen presentation. J Immunol 157(5):1819–1822
- Sierra A, Gottfried-Blackmore AC, McEwen BS et al (2007) Microglia derived from aging mice exhibit an altered inflammatory profile. Glia 55(4):412–424
- Siffrin V, Radbruch H, Glumm R et al (2010) In vivo imaging of partially reversible th17 cellinduced neuronal dysfunction in the course of encephalomyelitis. Immunity 33(3):424–436
- Sindern E, Haas J, Stark E et al (1992) Early onset MS under the age of 16: clinical and paraclinical features. Acta Neurol Scand 86(3):280–284
- Sloka JS, Pryse-Phillips WE, Stefanelli M (2006) The relation between menarche and the age of first symptoms in a multiple sclerosis cohort. Mult Scler 12(3):333–339
- Smith-Bouvier DL, Divekar AA, Sasidhar M et al (2008) A role for sex chromosome complement in the female bias in autoimmune disease. J Exp Med 205(5):1099–1108
- Soldan SS, Alvarez Retuerto AI, Sicotte NL et al. (2003) Immune modulation in multiple sclerosis patients treated with the pregnancy hormone estriol. J Immunol 171(11):6267–6274
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC (2003) Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 21:685–711
- Stromnes IM, Goverman JM (2006a) Active induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Nat Protoc 1(4):1810–1819
- Stromnes IM, Goverman JM (2006b) Passive induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Nat Protoc 1(4):1952–1960
- Swanton JK, Fernando KT, Dalton CM et al (2010) Early MRI in optic neuritis: the risk for clinically definite multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 16(2):156–165
- Thompson AJ, Polman CH, Miller DH et al (1997) Primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain 120(Pt 6):1085–1096
- Tomassini V, Onesti E, Mainero C et al (2005) Sex hormones modulate brain damage in multiple sclerosis: MRI evidence. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 76(2):272–275
- Tomio A, Schust DJ, Kawana K et al (2008) Prolactin can modulate CD4+ T-cell response through receptor-mediated alterations in the expression of T-bet. Immunol Cell Biol 86(7):616–621
- Tran EH, Prince EN, Owens T (2000) IFN-gamma shapes immune invasion of the central nervous system via regulation of chemokines. J Immunol 164(5):2759–2768
- Tremlett H, Devonshire V (2006) Is late-onset multiple sclerosis associated with a worse outcome? Neurology 67(6):954–959
- Tremlett H, Zhao Y, Joseph J et al (2008) Relapses in multiple sclerosis are age- and timedependent. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 79(12):1368–1374
- Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ et al (2008) Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol 172(1):146–155
- Venken K, Hellings N, Thewissen M et al (2008) Compromised CD4+ CD25(high) regulatory T-cell function in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is correlated with a reduced frequency of FOXP3-positive cells and reduced FOXP3 expression at the single-cell level. Immunology 123(1):79–89
- Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL et al (2004) Loss of functional suppression by CD4 +CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med 199(7):971–979
- Voskuhl RR, Palaszynski K (2001) Sex hormones in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: implications for multiple sclerosis. Neuroscientist 7(3):258–270
- Voskuhl RR, Pitchekian-Halabi H, MacKenzie-Graham A et al (1996) Gender differences in autoimmune demyelination in the mouse: implications for multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 39 (6):724–733
- Vukusic S, Hutchinson M, Hours M et al (2004) Pregnancy and multiple sclerosis (the PRIMS study): clinical predictors of post-partum relapse. Brain 127(Pt 6):1353–1360

- Wakatsuki A, Borrow P, Rigley K et al (2003) Cell-surface bound pertussis toxin induces polyclonal T cell responses with high levels of interferon-gamma in the absence of interleukin-12. Eur J Immunol 33(7):1859–1868
- Weatherby SJ, Mann CL, Davies MB et al (2000) A pilot study of the relationship between gadolinium-enhancing lesions, gender effect and polymorphisms of antioxidant enzymes in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol 247(6):467–470
- Weinstein Y, Ran S, Segal S (1984) Sex-associated differences in the regulation of immune responses controlled by the MHC of the mouse. J Immunol 132(2):656–661
- Whitacre CC (2001) Sex differences in autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol 2(9):777-780
- Wilcoxen SC, Kirkman E, Dowdell KC et al (2000) Gender-dependent IL-12 secretion by APC is regulated by IL-10. J Immunol 164(12):6237–6243
- Yates MA, Li Y, Chlebeck P et al (2010) Progesterone treatment reduces disease severity and increases IL-10 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 220 (1–2):136–139
- Young HA, Hardy KJ (1995) Role of interferon-gamma in immune cell regulation. J Leukoc Biol 58(4):373–381
- Zhang MA, Rego D, Moshkova M et al (2012) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha and -gamma regulate IFNgamma and IL-17A production by human T cells in a sexspecific way. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(24):9505–9510
- Zhang X, Castelli FA, Zhu X et al (2008) Gender-dependent HLA-DR-restricted epitopes identified from herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoprotein D. Clin Vaccine Immunol 15 (9):1436–1449
- Zhornitsky S, Yong VW, Weiss S et al (2013) Prolactin in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 19(1): 15–23